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Strategic report 
 
 
The Directors present to the members of HSB Engineering Insurance Limited (the ‘Company’) the Strategic report 
for the year ended 31 December 2019. The results for the year for the Company are set out in the financial 
statements on pages 16 to 49. 
 
A non-financial information statement is not presented in this report as the Company has taken advantage of the 
exemption available under section 4(7) of The Companies, Partnerships and Groups (Accounts and Non-Financial 
Reporting) Regulations 2016. 
 
 
Principal activities 
The Company is an insurance company underwriting engineering and related property risks, which are primarily 
located in the United Kingdom and Europe through its UK operation and Republic of Ireland branch. The  insurance 
solutions and services on offer are underpinned by a high level of engineering expertise and claims management 
capability. 
 
The Company has a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking, The Boiler Inspection and Insurance Company of 
Canada, which underwrites engineering risks in North America, and a wholly owned non-insurance subsidiary 
company in the UK, HSB Engineering Insurance Services Limited, which provides inspections and consultancy 
services on plant and equipment.  
 
The Company is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Munchener Ruckversicherungs-Gesellschaft 
Aktiengellschaft (Munich Re). 
 
 
Business review and outlook 
The results of the Company for the year, as set out on pages 16 and 17, show profit before tax of £8,204,000 
(2018: £3,899,000). As at 31 December 2019, the total net assets of the Company were £98,535,000 (2018: 
£98,991,000).  
 
The Company’s total gross written premiums for the year were £56,247,000, which represented an increase of 
13.6% on 2018. The increase was driven by strong growth in the Company’s core business lines in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland, through growth in regional and London markets aided by the launch of the Company’s online 
broker trading platform. New and recent product innovations further supported this growth, including the addition 
of latent structural defects insurance to the Company’s construction product offerings as well as ongoing growth in 
the SME and home cyber sectors.  
 
The Company reported a total gross loss ratio for the year of 38% (2018: 83%), a gross combined operating ratio 
of 96% (2018: 141%) and a net combined operating ratio of 105% (2018: 107%). Whilst the gross claims incurred 
for the year improved significantly on 2019, the net loss ratio showed only marginal year on year improvement, 
reflecting adverse prior year development on the Company’s International run-off books and losses within the waste 
to energy sector, which are no longer core to the Company’s future growth plans.  Adjusting for these items, the 
Company’s underlying and ongoing insurance books reported an acceptable loss experience through 2019.  
 
The 2019 results include a provision of £463,000 in respect of the premium due on the expected portfolio transfer 
of the Company’s Australian branch book of business to a third party run-off insurer. This transfer is targeted to 
complete in the first half of 2020, subject to regulatory approval.  The Australian branch has been running off since 
2016 and this transfer, once completed, will cap the Company’s exposure to future claims development in Australia, 
accelerate the release of capital back to the UK and reduce future operating costs. 
 
Total interest income for the year was £3,157,000 (2018: £3,668,000), which represented a 3.1% return on the 
value of investments held at 31 December 2019 (2018: 3.6%). The Company’s investment custodian is BlackRock 
Incorporated and its investment manager is Munich Ergo Asset Manager of New York (MEAG-NY). 
 
The Company has adopted the standard formula for the calculation of its Solvency II capital requirements. The 
solvency coverage as at 31 December 2019 was substantially above the Company’s Solvency Capital Requirement 
and is forecast to remain strong over the business planning horizon.  
 
 
Results and dividends 
The profit for the year before taxation was £8,204,000 (2018: £3,899,000). 
 
During the year, the Directors declared and paid a dividend of £9,814,000 (2018: £22,016,000). The Directors do 
not recommend the proposal of any further dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: £nil). 
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Strategic report (continued) 
 
 
Key performance indicators (‘KPIs’) 
The Board of Directors (the Board) monitors the financial performance of the Company by reference to the 
following KPIs: 

 2019           
£’000 

2018           
£’000 

 

Gross written premiums 56,247 49,529  
Net written premiums 53,724 46,691 Gross written premium less outward reinsurance in 

respect of insurance contracts. 
Gross loss ratio 38% 83% Ratio of gross claims incurred to gross premiums 

earned. 
Gross combined operating ratio 96% 141% Ratio of gross claims incurred, commissions and 

expenses to gross premiums earned. 
Net combined operating ratio 105% 107% Ratio of net claims incurred, commissions and 

expenses to net premiums earned. 
Solvency capital cover 229% 227% Capital cover as calculated under Solvency II 

standard formula. 
 
 
Future developments 
The Company’s vision is to become the customer’s first choice for engineering and technology insurance and 
inspection services, by providing best in class products and customer experience, an effective and flexible 
distribution model and an efficient operating platform.  The Company aims to continue to profitably grow market 
share in transactional engineering lines business in the UK and the Republic of Ireland (ROI) and to expand its 
portfolio of niche ‘white label’ insurance products with strategic partners. This growth is targeted through further 
development and innovation within the Company’s core product lines, including insurance solutions that leverage 
technological advancements, as well as developing new channels and partners to distribute core products.  
 
The Company has considered the risks posed by the UK’s exit from the European Union (“Brexit”). The Company’s 
most significant operation in the EU is in the ROI where the Company currently operates on a freedom of 
establishment basis. In 2019 the Company obtained provisional approval from the Central Bank of Ireland to 
establish a third country branch operation in the ROI, should that be required following the end of the Brexit 
transitional arrangements, which will enable the Company to continue to operate in the ROI going forwards. 
Considerable uncertainty remains regarding future trade relations between the UK and the EU, as well as the 
direction of UK policy and regulatory changes, and this uncertainty continues to affect the UK economy. The 
Company continues to monitor developments and the potential range of impacts on the Company, and will adapt 
its strategy as required. 
 
In early 2020 the existence of a new coronavirus, known as COVID-19, was confirmed in China by the World Health 
Organisation (WHO). On 11 March 2020 the WHO made the assessment that COVID-19 was characterised as a 
pandemic following its global spread, including the UK and Republic of Ireland. The COVID-19 pandemic gives rise 
to inherent uncertainty that will affect the whole market, including a significant risk of disruption to the Global 
economy and financial markets.  The Company has given consideration to this developing risk within its internal 
risk assessments and is actively monitoring the situation, implementing as required its established business 
continuity plans to promote the well-being of our employees and to minimise any disruption to our business and 
customers.  
 
 
Risk management  
The Company adopts a transparent and consistent approach in the design of its risk management framework, 
applying the Risk Management Principles set out by the Company’s immediate and ultimate parent companies. 
The Company considers risks proportionately, ensuring ownership and accountability throughout the organisation, 
having several levels of independent oversight in place. The risk framework also ensures staff are well trained and 
risk management practices and principles are embedded across the organisation. 
 
The Board is collectively responsible for setting the strategic direction of the Company and defining the overall 
tolerance for risk, including the review of major risk exposures and the establishment of risk limits in material areas. 
The Board is ultimately also responsible for risk governance, ensuring the Company operates within an established 
and effective risk framework of internal control systems, policies and procedures that are also compliant with 
applicable laws and regulations.  
 
The Executive Committee of the Board supports the delivery of the Company’s strategy through overseeing the 
development and delivery of the Company’s business plans and financial plans; overseeing the development and  



  

6 
 

Strategic report (continued) 
 
 
Risk management (continued) 
implementation of policies and procedures; and identifying and assessing emerging risks and issues along with 
overseeing associated actions. 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing that the Company has in place an appropriately designed and 
effective internal control framework to manage financial reporting and audit risks.  
 
The Risk Committee is responsible for overseeing the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Company’s 
strategies, processes and internal controls pertaining to compliance and risk management. The outbreak of the 
COVID-19 coronavirus presents increased risk to the Company and consequently the Risk Committee is regularly 
updating the Company’s Pandemic risk register and overseeing the Company’s management of this developing 
risk. 
 
The Company’s day to day risk governance is managed by executive sub-committees of the Risk Committee, being 
the Compliance and Risk Group and Underwriting and Claims Group. The Compliance and Risk Group is 
comprised of function heads from across the business and is responsible for supervising the day to day risk 
management and compliance advice, monitoring and oversight activities as delegated by the Risk Committee, 
within the risk appetite and tolerances set by the Board. The Underwriting and Claims Group is a working group 
which is focused on the specific risks facing underwriting and claims.  
 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee is responsible for advising the Board on matters relating to Board’s 
membership, Committee memberships and related appointments and for oversight of the Company’s 
implementation of and compliance with the Munich Re remuneration policy.  

  
The Pensions Governance Committee is responsible for overseeing the Company’s defined contribution pension 
scheme and is a sub-committee of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee. 

 
The Charity Committee is responsible for overseeing the Company’s charitable donations and is a sub-committee 
of the Executive Committee.  

 
Independent Risk and Compliance functions are in place to develop, implement, monitor and improve 
organisational measures needed to ensure legally correct and responsible conduct by the Company and its 
employees. Also to provide challenge to the business stakeholders on the effectiveness of the risk management 
practices being followed, on the risks identified, the strength of the controls in place and any actions being 
progressed. These functions also provide advice and guidance on the impact of regulatory changes.  

 
The Internal Audit function, which is outsourced to an affiliate Company within the Munich Re Group in the UK,  
undertakes regular risk-based audits to independently assess the quality of business processes and controls, 
reporting the results of its findings to the management team of the Company and to the Audit Committee. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
The major categories of risk exposure for the Company are summarised below. 

 
Underwriting risk  
The Company has identified that the principal risks from its general insurance business would most likely arise 
from inaccurate pricing; fluctuations in the timing, frequency and severity of claims compared to expectations; 
inadequate reinsurance protection; and inadequate reserving. These risks are managed through underwriting and 
reinsurance strategies that emphasise appropriate profitability, which are set by Management under supervision 
by the Board and are communicated throughout the business via policy statements and internal guidelines. For 
information on exposure to underwriting risk refer to note 3 of the financial statements. 

 
Financial risks 
The Company’s activities are exposed to financial risk through its financial assets, financial liabilities, reinsurance 
assets and policyholder liabilities. In particular, a key financial risk is that the proceeds from financial assets are 
not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from policies as they fall due. The most important components of this 
financial risk are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

 
Market risk 
Market risk is defined as the risk of economic losses resulting from price changes on the money and capital 
markets. The Company’s main exposure to market risk arises principally from currency risk, interest rate risk and 
spread risk. 
 
Currency risk 
The Company operates internationally and is exposed to currency risk in respect of liabilities under policies of 
insurance and reinsurance denominated in currencies other than the British pound. Foreign exchange risk arises 
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Strategic report (continued) 
 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
Currency risk (continued) 
from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. 
The most significant currencies to which the Company is exposed are the Euro, the United States Dollar and the 
Australian dollar. The Company sets risk tolerance limits for foreign currency exposure and seeks to manage 
currency risk as part of the liability-driven investment approach by matching, wherever possible, the estimated 
foreign currency denominated liabilities with assets denominated in the same currency that also have a similar 
maturity profile to the liabilities they are seeking to match. The Company does not use derivatives to manage its 
currency (or other) risks. For information on exposure to currency risk refer to note 4 of the financial statements.  
 
Interest rate risk 
The Company has exposure to interest rate risk through the variability of the interest income receivable on its 
financial investment portfolio and the valuation of that fixed rate investment portfolio. The Company seeks to 
manage this risk as part of its liability-driven investment approach. In addition, to the extent that claims inflation is 
correlated to interest rates, liabilities are also potentially exposed to interest rate risk. The Company has no 
significant interest-bearing financial liabilities. For information on exposure to interest rate risk refer to note 4 of the 
financial statements. 
 
Spread risk 
Spread risk arises from the sensitivity in the values of assets, liabilities and financial instruments to changes in the 
level or volatility of credit spreads over the risk-free interest rate term structure. The Company is exposed to this 
risk through its investment portfolio, which includes corporate bonds. Spread risk is managed by the Company 
through setting limits on the proportion of the investment portfolio subject to spread risk and through setting 
minimum credit quality levels for invested assets. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is defined as the risk of financial loss as a result of a change in the financial position of a counterparty. 
The Company is exposed to credit risk from risk-mitigating contracts such as reinsurance, cash and cash 
equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions. The Company is also exposed to credit risk on 
receivables from intermediaries and policyholders.  
 
The Company monitors its exposure to all counterparties and takes corrective action if required to ensure all sums 
are collected on a timely basis. Maximum counterparty limits and minimum credit ratings are in place for all issuers 
of investments held by the Company. For information on exposure to credit risk refer to note 4 of the financial 
statements. 
 
Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the liability of the Company as 
a primary insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim, the Company, as primary insurer, remains liable for the payment 
to the policyholder. The creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an annual basis by reviewing their financial 
strength prior to finalisation of any reinsurance contract. In addition, the recent payment history of reinsurers is 
used to update the reinsurance purchasing strategy. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that funds are not available to meet obligations at a reasonable time or at a 
reasonable cost. This risk is managed through cash management activities to ensure the Company maintains 
sufficient cash and through control of the marketable investment portfolio to ensure funds are available to meet 
obligations. For information on exposure to liquidity risk refer to note 4 of the financial statements. 
 
Operational risk  
Operational risk is defined as the potential losses resulting from inadequate processes, technical failure, human 
error or external events, including cyber security. The Company adopts a range of measures to mitigate operational 
risk exposure and respond to incidents. Emphasis is placed on the selection and training of managers and staff 
and the provision of effective guidance, through such measures as documented policies and procedures, operating 
manuals and system controls. In addition, the Company undertakes regular compliance certification of processes 
and controls, maintains business continuity plans and undertakes regular operational event reporting and 
monitoring.  
 
The Internal Control System reporting application is used to document and formally assess operational risks and 
controls. This system is used to focus attention on any identified weaknesses and action plans are put in place to 
mitigate any weakness is identified. This is used as a basis for review and challenge by Management, the 
Compliance and Risk Group, the Audit Committee, the Risk Committee and the Board.  
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Strategic report (continued) 
 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
Operational risk (continued) 
The Company’s operational risk management framework includes the management of taxation risk. The Company 
is committed to acting in a prudent and responsible manner and to be an open, transparent and dependable 
taxpayer.  The Company’s tax strategy is published on its website. 
 
Reputational risk 
Reputational risk is defined as the risk that adverse publicity regarding the Company’s business practices and 
associations, whether accurate or not, will cause a loss of confidence in the integrity of the Company.  Reputational 
risk is controlled within the framework of the Internal Control System and by setting high ethical standards in the 
employee code of conduct. Reputational risks may result from the realisation of other risks, for example strategic 
risk or group risk, therefore reputational risks are controlled indirectly through the control of the respective risks 
and risk types. 
 
Strategic risk 
Strategic risk is defined as the risk of making wrong business decisions, implementing decisions poorly, or being 
unable to adapt to changes in the Company’s operating environment. The Company counters strategic risks by 
closely interlinking strategic decision-making processes with risk management. This process gives consideration 
to the Company’s Own Risk and Solvency Assessment to manage the capital requirements and to ensure the 
Company has the financial strength and capital adequacy to support the objectives of the business over the long 
term. 
 
Group risk 
Group risk is defined as the risk of any activity, circumstance, event or series of events involving one or more 
affiliates of the Company that, if not remedied promptly, is likely to have a material adverse effect upon the financial 
condition or liquidity of the Company. Given the limited level of influence which the Company has over its exposure 
to group risk from sources other than its own subsidiaries, it relies on its capital management policy to maintain 
adequate financial resources. 
 
Outsourcing risk 
The Company is reliant on outsourced arrangements for the provision of certain services, which are performed by 
third parties or other entities within Munich Re, in particular investment management activities performed by MEAG 
and various services provided by other Munich Re entities, including reinsurance, IT support activities and Internal 
Audit services, some of which are ‘material outsourcing’ arrangements as defined under the Solvency II directive. 
Where services are outsourced, the Company applies the same risk management and monitoring framework as 
though the services were provided in-house. With all material outsourcing arrangements there is a regular flow of 
information between the Company and the outsourced service providers and active performance monitoring by the 
Company in order to mitigate and manage the associated risks. 
 
Regulatory and legal risks 
The legal and regulatory environment is subject to continuous change in many of the jurisdictions in which the 
Company operates, including developments in response to changes in the economic and political environment. 
The Company continues to monitor the developments and respond accordingly. The Company's Legal, Compliance 
and Risk functions and, where appropriate, external advisors support management and the Board in identifying 
and implementing necessary steps to ensure the Company remains compliant with applicable regulatory and legal 
requirements. The Company is required to comply with the Solvency II reporting regime and to maintain its own 
funds at a level which meets the Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR). Compliance is reviewed on a quarterly 
basis by the Risk Committee. 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
S Worrall 
Managing Director 
1 May 2020 
 
Registered Number: 2396114  
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Directors’ report 
 
 
The Directors present to the members of HSB Engineering Insurance Limited their Directors’ report and the audited 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
As permitted by section 414C (11) of the Companies Act 2006, certain information is not included in the Directors’ 
report because it has instead been shown in the Strategic Report. This information is:  
 

- Principal activities of the Company 
- Business review and outlook 
- Results and dividends 
- Principal risks and uncertainties 

 
 
Political contributions 
There were no political contributions made by the Company (2018: none). 
 
 
Policy and practice on payment to creditors 
It is the policy of the Company to settle the terms of payment with all suppliers when agreeing the terms of each 
transaction when orders for goods and services are placed and to pay in accordance with those terms, ensuring 
persons are aware of the terms and abide by them. 
 
 
Directors  
The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of approval of this Directors’ Report were as 
follows: 
 
G Barats 
J Herdman 
S Morris  
A O’Reilly  
J O’Shaughnessy 
P Richter 
C Scarr 
S Worrall 

 
 

Directors’ qualifying third party and pension indemnity provisions 
The Company, through its ultimate parent company, Munich Re, purchased and maintained liability insurance for 
its Directors and Officers as permitted by section 233 of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
 
Tangible fixed assets  
Tangible fixed assets are detailed in note 17 to the accounts. All leasehold property is occupied by the Company 
for its own use.  
 
 
Going concern 
The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance 
and position, are set out in the Strategic report. The Statement of financial position shows net assets for the 
Company as at 31 December 2019 of £98,535,000.  
 
In considering the appropriateness of the going concern basis, the Directors have taken undertaken a risk 
assessment of the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s expected future operational and 
financial performance and its capital adequacy position.  The risk assessment considered a range of possible 
forward looking scenarios for a period of over 12 months from the date of this report, taking account of actions 
already taken to mitigate the risks to the Company’s’ employees and operations, as well as actions available in the 
future as needed. Based upon their own analysis of the available information, and as further disclosed in Note 1 to 
the financial statements, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. The Company’s capital position on the Solvency II basis 
is substantially above the Solvency Capital Requirement and is projected to remain above this requirement, 
including under a range of possible downside scenarios, which were considered within the Directors’ COVID-19 
impact risk assessment. 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
 
 
Employees  
Disabled persons 
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the respective 
aptitudes and abilities of the applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled every effort 
is made to ensure that their employment with the Company continues and appropriate training is arranged or 
support put in place.  It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development and promotion of a 
disabled person should as far as possible, be identical to that of a person who does not suffer from a disability. 
 
Employee involvement 
Involvement of employees is achieved through various methods which include, but are not limited to, quarterly all 
employee meetings, employee forums, periodic employee surveys, performance reviews, Company news bulletins, 
intranet communications, and staff wellness and recognition programmes. Consultation with employees or their 
representatives has continued at all levels during the year, with the aim that views are taken into account when 
decisions are made that are likely to affect their interests. 
 
Diversity 
The Company believes that having a diverse employee base is key to the success of the business and our customer 
experience. The Company is committed to creating an inclusive culture and environment of equality where all 
employees can have the opportunity to realise their full potential. Gender pay gap information is available on the 
Company’s website. The Directors are committed to continuing to undertake action to address the gender pay gap 
as well as to promoting the overall diversity of the Company’s employee base. 
 
The Company also believes in the importance of maintaining and developing the diversity of its Board, without 
compromising on the calibre of new directors appointed. Appointments to the Board are based on merit while 
complementing the existing diversity of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board as a whole. 
 
 
Disclosure of information to the auditor 
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of the Strategic report and Directors’ report confirm, so far as 
each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware. Each 
Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 
 
Auditor 
KPMG LLP has held office in accordance with Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006 for the 2019 financial year. 
Following a rigorous tender process conducted by Munich Re, which was approved by the Company, Ernst & 
Young LLP will assume the role of independent auditor for the Munich Re Group, and for the Company, for the 
year ending 31 December 2020. Formal appointment as auditor to the company will be completed after the approval 
of these financial statements. 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
S Worrall 
Managing Director 
1 May 2020 
 
 
Registered Number: 2396114 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities  
 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic report, the Directors’ report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.   

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under that law they 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable law.   

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of its profit or loss for that period.  In preparing the 
financial statements, the Directors are required to:   

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;   

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable;   

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;   

• assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern; and   

• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.   

In considering the appropriateness of the going concern basis, the Directors have considered the principal risks 
and uncertainties as set out in the Strategic Report, including the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
the Company.  

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 
and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud 
and other irregularities.   

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
  



  

12 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of HSB Engineering 
Insurance Limited  
 
1  Our opinion is unmodified   
 
We have audited the financial statements of HSB Engineering Insurance Limited (“the Company”) for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Income statement, the Statement of other comprehensive income, 
the Statement of financial position, the Statement of changes in equity, the Statement of cash flows, and the related 
notes, including the accounting policies in note 1.   
 
In our opinion:   
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 

and of its profit for the year then ended;   
• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as adopted by the European Union; and   
• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.   
 
Basis for opinion   
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient 
and appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion is consistent with our report to the audit committee.   
 
We were first appointed as auditor by the directors on 21 October 2009. The period of total uninterrupted 
engagement is for the eleven financial years ended 31 December 2019. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities 
under, and we remain independent of the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC 
Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities. No non-audit services prohibited by that standard were 
provided. 
 
2  Key audit matter: our assessment of risks of material misstatement   
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of 
the financial statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not 
due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the 
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.  We summarise below the 
key audit matter in arriving at our audit opinion above, together with our key audit procedures to address that matter 
and, as required for public interest entities, our results from those procedures. This matter was addressed, and our 
results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context of, and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and consequently are incidental to that opinion, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.   
 

Valuation of claims outstanding   
(£54.0 million; 2018: £59.7 million) 
 
Recurring risk ◄► 
 
Refer to page 24 (accounting policy) and pages 30-32 and 42-45 (financial disclosures). 

The risk Our response 

Subjective valuation: 
The Company holds a provision to cover the 
estimated cost of settling all existing and 
expected future insurance claims on written 
business, whether or not those losses have been 
reported to the Company as at the balance sheet 
date. 
 
The valuation of claims outstanding requires 
significant judgement, including the use of 
actuarial expertise. Calculation of the actuarial 
best estimate and the prudence margin for 
claims uncertainty uses historical data, which is 
sensitive to both internal and external inputs  

Our procedures included:  
— Our actuarial expertise: using our own actuarial 

specialists, inspecting the claims reserving reports and 
challenging the assumptions derived from the Company’s 
past experience. This is done by comparing the 
assumptions to our own expectations based on the 
Company’s historical experience, current trends and our 
own industry knowledge.  

— Independent re-performance: for all classes of business, 
calculating our own estimate of the claims outstanding 
liability using the Company’s data, comparing to the liability 
calculated by the Company, and considering the impact of 
any significant differences. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of HSB Engineering 
Insurance Limited (continued) 
 
 

The risk Our response 

including claims handling procedures and claims 
cost inflation.  
 
The valuation of claims outstanding requires 
assumptions such as initial expected loss ratio 
and pattern of loss emergence to be made in 
respect of whether, and to what extent, past 
experience can be used to estimate future 
outcomes. Small changes in the assumptions 
and estimates can have a significant impact on 
the overall valuation of claims outstanding. 
 
The effect of these matters is that, as part of our 
risk assessment, we determined that the 
valuation of claims outstanding has a high 
degree of estimation uncertainty, with a potential 
range of reasonable outcomes greater than our 
materiality for the financial statements as a 
whole, and possibly many times that amount. 
The financial statements (note 3) disclose the 
sensitivity estimated by the Company.  

— Methodology and benchmarking: evaluating the 
prudence margin and actuarial reserving methodology by 
benchmarking to market data as well as industry best 
practice. 

— Actual versus expected testing: challenging the quality 
of the Company’s historical valuation of claims outstanding 
by verifying progression of loss ratios against expectations. 

— Assessing transparency: assessing the Company’s 
disclosures relating to the valuation of claims outstanding, 
in particular in relation to key and sensitive assumptions. 

 
Our results   
— We found the valuation of claims outstanding to be 

acceptable (2018 result: acceptable). 

 
We continue to perform procedures over the impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on 
our audit. However, as a result of developments since our prior year report, the relative significance of this matter 
on our audit work, including in relation to the valuation of claims outstanding, has reduced and, therefore, it is not 
separately identified in our report this year. 
 
3  Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit   
 
Materiality for the financial statements as a whole was set at £426k (2018: £500k), determined with reference to a 
benchmark of gross written premium (of which it represents 0.8% (2018: 1%)).  We consider gross written premiums 
to be the most appropriate benchmark as it provides a more stable measure year on year than profit before tax. 
 
We agreed to report to those charged with governance any corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements 
exceeding £21k, in addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 
 
Our audit of the Company was undertaken to the materiality level specified above and was all performed at the 
Company’s office in Manchester. 
 
4  We have nothing to report on going concern 
 
The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate 
the Company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the Company’s financial position means 
that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast 
significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the 
financial statements (“the going concern period”).   
 
Our responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ conclusions and, had there been a material 
uncertainty related to going concern, to make reference to that in this audit report. However, as we cannot predict 
all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with 
judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a material uncertainty 
in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the Company will continue in operation.   
 
In our evaluation of the Directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Company’s business model, 
and analysed how those risks might affect the Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the 
going concern period.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of HSB Engineering 
Insurance Limited (continued) 
 
 
The risks that we considered most likely to adversely affect the Company’s available financial resources over this period 
were: 
 
• Significant adverse deviation in insurance claims experience; and 
• A deterioration in the valuation of the Company’s investments arising from a significant change in the economic 

environment.  
 

As these were risks that could potentially cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going 
concern, we considered sensitivities over the level of available financial resources indicated by the Company’s 
financial forecasts taking account of reasonably possible (but not unrealistic) adverse effects that could arise from 
these risks individually and collectively and evaluated the achievability of the actions the Directors consider they 
would take to improve the position should the risks materialise. We also considered less predictable but realistic 
second order impacts, such as the impact of Brexit on claims inflation, which could result in a rapid reduction of 
available financial resources. 

Based on this work, we are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis 
of accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over 
the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. 
 
We have nothing to report in these respects, and we did not identify going concern as a key audit matter. 
 
5  We have nothing to report on the strategic report and the directors’ report 
The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report.  Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.   

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based 
on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work:   

• we have not identified material misstatements in those reports;   
• in our opinion the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year is 

consistent with the financial statements; and   
• in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 

 
6  We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception   
 
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:   
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by us; or   
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or   
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or   
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.   
 
We have nothing to report in these respects.   
 
7  Respective responsibilities   
 
Directors’ responsibilities   
As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 11, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of 
the financial statements including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either 
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.   
 
Auditor’s responsibilities   
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or other irregularities (see below), or error, and to issue our opinion in 
an auditor’s report.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements 
can arise from fraud, other irregularities or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
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Insurance Limited (continued) 
 
 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements.   
 
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.   
 
Irregularities – ability to detect 
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the 
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with the directors 
(as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Company’s regulatory and legal correspondence 
and discussed with the directors the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.  We 
communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit. 
 
The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably. 
 
Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial 
reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation legislation 
and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related 
financial statement items.   
 
Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance 
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the 
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company’s licence to operate. We identified the following areas as 
those most likely to have such an effect: regulatory capital recognising the financial and regulated nature of the 
Company’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these 
laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. 
These limited procedures did not identify actual or suspected non-compliance. 
 
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some 
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
(irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently 
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.  In addition, as with any audit, there remained 
a higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and 
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations. 
 
8  The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities   
 
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s 
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.   
 
 
 
 
Andrew Jones (Senior Statutory Auditor)   
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor   
Chartered Accountants 
 
1 St Peter's Square 
Manchester 
M2 3AE 
 
1 May 2020 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Income statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 Note 31 December 
2019 

 31 December 
2018 

  £’000  £’000 
Underwriting revenue     
Gross written premiums 5 56,247  49,529 
Outward reinsurance premiums 5 (2,523)  (2,838) 
Change in the gross provision for unearned premiums 20 (6,186)  (173) 
Change in the provision for unearned premiums, reinsurers’ share 20 82  (75) 
Net earned premiums  47,620  46,443 
     
Investment income 6 1,810  1,300 
Lease interest 
Dividends from subsidiaries 

23 (60) 
8,731 

 - 
5,897 

Total revenue  58,101  53,640 
     
 
Expenses 

    

Gross claims incurred 7 (19,166)  (40,981) 
Less: claims recoveries from reinsurers 7 (1,871)  19,919 
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance  (21,037)  (21,062) 

     
Fees, commissions and other acquisition costs 8 (14,106)  (14,016) 
Operating and administrative expenses  (14,754)  (14,663) 
Total operating expenses  (28,860)  (28,679) 
     
Profit before tax 9 8,204  3,899 
     
Income tax 13 (381)  2 
     
Profit for the year 9 7,823  3,901 

 
 
 
All income statement transactions relate to continuing operations. 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

  
 

31 December 
2019 

 31 December 
2018 

  £’000  £’000 
     
Profit for the year  7,823  3,901 
     
 
Other comprehensive income 

    

     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement:     
Available-for-sale securities - unrealised net changes in fair value   2,355  (2,007) 
Available-for-sale securities - reclassified to income statement  (505)  55 
Related tax  (315)  329 
     
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year, net of income tax  1,535  (1,623) 
Total comprehensive income for the year   9,358  2,278 

 
 
 
All comprehensive income transactions relate to continuing operations. 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2019  
 

  31 December 
2019 

 31 December 
2018 

 Notes £’000  £’000 
Assets     
Financial investments     
  Cash and cash equivalents 4 6,653  6,618 
  Short-term bank deposits 4 1,486  2,345 
  Fixed-income securities 4 102,040  99,507 
Investments in group undertakings  53,806  53,806 
Total investments  163,985  162,276 

     
Insurance debtors - intermediaries 18 7,500  5,903 
Insurance debtors - out of reinsurance operations 18 1,778  1,861 
Current tax  206  224 
Other debtors 18 1,951  768 
Ceded unearned premiums 20 136  54 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 18,20 25,592  28,933 
Deferred acquisition costs 15 5,599  4,303 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 18 1,903  1,830 
Property, plant and equipment 17 7,091  532 
Total assets  215,741  206,684 

     
Equity and liabilities     
Equity     
Share capital 19 53,560  53,560 
Capital contribution  7,062  7,062 
Retained earnings and other reserves  37,913  38,369 
Total equity  98,535  98,991 

     
Liabilities     
Insurance contract liabilities 20 84,197  84,802 
Creditors arising out of insurance operations 24 1,364  554 
Deferred tax liabilities 22 796  713 
Accruals and deferred income 
Held for sale liabilties 
Lease liabilities 

 
21 
23 

2,407 
1,113 
6,779 

 2,534 
- 
- 

Other liabilities 24 20,550  19,090 
Total liabilities  117,206  107,693 

     
Total equity and liabilities  215,741  206,684 

 
 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 1 May 2020 and were signed 
on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
S Worrall     A O’Reilly 
Managing Director    Finance Director 
 
HSB Engineering Insurance Limited Registered Number: 2396114 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
 

 Share 
capital 

Capital 
contribution 

Fair Value 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
      
      
At 1 January 2018 53,560 7,062 1,421 56,686 118,729 
      
Profit for the year - - - 3,901 3,901 
Other comprehensive profit/(loss)  - - (1,623) - (1,623) 
Total comprehensive income - - (1,623) 3,901 2,278 

 
Dividends paid 
 

- - - (22,016) (22,016) 

At 31 December 2018 53,560 7,062 (202) 38,571 98,991 
      
Profit for the year - - - 7,823 7,823 
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) - - 1,535 - 1,535  
Total comprehensive income - - 1,535  7,823 9,358 
      
Dividends paid - - - (9,814)  (9,814) 
      
At 31 December 2019 53,560 7,062 1,333 36,580 98,535 

 
 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 Note 31 December 
2019 

 31 December 
2018 

  £’000  £’000 
     
Cash flow used in operating activities     
Profit for the year  7,823  3,901 
     
Adjustments      
Working capital changes – assets / (liabilities)     
(Increase) / decrease in insurance debtors - intermediaries  (1,597)  317 
(Increase) / decrease in insurance debtors - out of reinsurance operations 83     (319) 
(Increase) / decrease in other debtors  (1,183)  (567) 
(Increase) / decrease in ceded unearned premiums  (82)  77 
Increase / (decrease)  in reinsurers’ share of insurance contract 
liabilities 

 3,341  (15,921) 

(Increase) / decrease in deferred acquisition costs  (1,296)  (241) 
(Increase) / decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets  (72)  378 
Increase / (decrease) in insurance contract liabilities  (605)  16,144 
Increase / (decrease) in creditors arising out of insurance operations  810  (192) 
Increase / (decrease) in accruals and deferred income  (127)  285 
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities  1,460  2,213 
Increase / (decrease) in held for sale liability  1,113  - 
     
Non-cash items in profit for the year     
Provision for taxes  381  (2) 
Depreciation  
Interest expense (leases) 

17 1,323 
125 

 216 

Amortisation of investment premiums and discounts  1,146  1,413 
Unrealised foreign exchange differences  553  568 
(Gain) / loss on disposal of investments  (505)  55 
     
Tax paid     
Income taxes paid  (596)  (1,808) 
Net cash inflow from operating activities  12,095  6,517 
     
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 17 (87)  - 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  - 
Purchases of investments   (43,389)  (57,754) 
Disposals and maturities of investments  42,446  73,807 
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from investing activities  (1,030)  16,053 
     
Dividends paid  
Payment of lease liabilities 

 (9,814) 
(1,139) 

 (22,016) 
- 

Net cash outflow from financing activities  (10,953)  (22,016) 
     
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  112  554 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  6,618  6,075 
Effect of exchange rate changes  (77)  (11) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  6,653  6,618 
     

 
 
The attached notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
 
HSB Engineering Insurance Limited (the “Company”) is a private company limited by shares and incorporated, 
registered and domiciled in England and Wales. The Company operates principally as an insurance company 
underwriting engineering lines risks primarily located in the United Kingdom and Europe through its UK operation 
and Republic of Ireland branch. The Company has a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking, The Boiler Inspection 
and Insurance Company of Canada (BI&I), which underwrites engineering risks in North America, and a wholly 
owned non-insurance subsidiary company in the UK, HSB Engineering Insurance Services Limited (HSBEISL), 
which provides inspections and consultancy services on plant and equipment. The Company has no interest in any 
other undertaking. 
 
The Company is an indirect subsidiary of The Hartford Steam Boiler Inspection and Insurance Company (HSBIIC) 
which is in turn a subsidiary of Munchener Ruckversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengellschaft (Munich Re), the 
Company’s ultimate parent. 
 
 
1 Accounting policies 
 
Basis of preparation and statement of compliance 
The financial statements the Company have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) and as endorsed by the European Union (EU), and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to 
those reporting under IFRS. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement at fair value 
of certain financial instruments. 
 
As permitted by section 401 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not prepared group financial statements 
as the results of the Company and all of its subsidiaries are included in publicly available group financial statements 
of its ultimate parent Company, Munich Re. The registered office of Munich Re is Koniginstr. 107, Munich, 
Germany. 
 
Going concern 
The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance 
and position, are set out above and in the Strategic report. The Company’s Statement of financial position shows 
net current assets of £2,905,000 and net assets of £4,827,000. 
 
In considering the appropriateness of the going concern basis, the Directors have taken undertaken a risk 
assessment of the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s expected future operational and 
financial performance and its capital adequacy position.  The risk assessment considered a range of possible 
forward looking scenarios for a period of over 12 months from the date of this report, taking account of actions 
already taken to mitigate the risks to the Company’s’ employees and operations, as well as actions available in the 
future as needed. Based upon their own analysis of the available information, the Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial 
statements. 
 
Adoption of new and revised Standards 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 brings together all three 
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. On 12 September 2016, the IASB issued Applying IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' with IFRS 4 
'Insurance Contracts' (Amendments to IFRS 4) allowing entities that issue insurance contracts within the scope of 
IFRS 4 to defer application of IFRS 9 until 2020. The Company has taken advantage of the deferral approach for 
IFRS 9 in its financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019. 
 
During the temporary exemption period the Company is required to provide information on the characteristics of its 
financial assets, and as such will need to disclose the fair value at the end of the reporting period and the amount 
of the change in the fair value during the period for the following two groups of financial assets separately: 
 

• Financial assets that would meet the “solely payments of principal and interest” (SPPI) characteristic test 
in IFRS 9 (but excluding certain financial assets based on measurement criteria being met); and 

• All financial assets other than those included in SPPI characteristic test. 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
In addition, the Company is required to disclose information about the credit characteristics of all financial assets 
that meet the SPPI test by presenting the gross carrying amounts under IAS 39 aggregated by credit risk rating 
grades as defined in IFRS 7; and for financial assets that do not have low credit risk as defined in IFRS 9, the fair 
value and the gross carrying amounts under IAS 39. These are disclosed in note 4. 
 
The following standards were in issue or revised but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Company in preparing the financial statements. 
 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (not yet endorsed by the EU) 
In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17, a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering 
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is more 
useful and consistent for insurers. IFRS 17 covers all relevant accounting aspects of insurance contracts. The core 
of IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by a simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly 
for short-duration contracts. IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with 
comparative figures required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 
on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17. The Company plans to apply IFRS 17 on its mandatory effective date. 
Management is in the process of determining full impact of IFRS 17 on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
Changes in accounting policies  
Except for the changes below, the Company has consistently applied the accounting policies to all periods 
presented in these financial statements. There are no other new or revised standards that have a material effect 
on the Company. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 
The Company has applied IFRS 16 with a date of initial application of 1 January 2019. As a result, the Company 
has changed its accounting policy for lease contracts as detailed below. The Company applied IFRS 16 using the 
modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in retained 
earnings at 1 January 2019. 
 
Definition of a lease 
Previously, the Company determined at contract inception whether an arrangement is or contains a lease under 
IFRIC 4. Under IFRS 16, the Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition 
of a lease, as explained further in accounting policies related to leases. 
 
On transition to IFRS 16, the Company elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of 
which transactions are leases. It applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. 
Contracts that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for whether there is a 
lease. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or changed on 
or after 1 January 2019. 
 
As a lessee 
As a lessee, the Company previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of 
whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying 
asset to the Company. Under IFRS 16, the Company recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 
 
At transition, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at 
the incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019. Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to the 
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments. 
 
The Company used the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as 
operating leases under IAS 17: 
 

• Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics. 

• Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 
months of lease term. 

• Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application. 

• Used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate 
the lease 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 
 

Impact on the financial statements 
On transition to IFRS 16, the Company recognised £7,795,000 of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 
 
When measuring lease liabilities, the Company discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 
1 January 2019. The weighted-average rate applied for real estate and vehicles is 1.72% and 1.28% respectively. 
                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                          £’000  

 
Operating lease commitments as accounted for under IAS 17 at 31 December 2018 

 
6,051 

Discounted using incremental borrowing rate at 1 Jan 2019 (527) 
Termination options exercised 3,301 
Operating lease costs (1,113) 
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 Jan 2019 7,712 

 
 
Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) - endorsed by the EU in December 2019 and effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.  
 
The changes from the Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) all relate to a revised definition of 
'material', which is: Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those 
financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.  
 
Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting - endorsed by the EU in December 2019, 
and effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 
 
The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework) describes the objective of and 
concepts for general purpose financial reporting. The revised Conceptual Framework, issued by the IASB in March 
2018, includes: 

- a new chapter on measurement;  
- guidance on reporting financial performance;  
- improved definitions of an asset and a liability and guidance supporting these definitions; and 
- clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty 

in financial reporting. 
 
The IASB also updated references to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards by issuing Amendments to 
References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards. 
 
Other standards in issue or amendments that are not yet effective are not expected to significantly impact the 
financial statements of the Company. 
 
Use of estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of policies, the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of 
current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. 
 
Information about assumptions used and other sources of estimation uncertainty in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is disclosed in note 2. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
These financial statements are presented in Great British Pounds (GBP), which is the Company’s functional and 
presentational currency. Except as otherwise indicated, all financial information presented in GBP has been 
rounded to the nearest thousand (£000). 
 
Insurance contracts 
Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk at the inception of the contract. 
Insurance risk is transferred when the Company agrees to compensate a policyholder if a specified uncertain future 
event adversely affects the policyholder. Any contracts not meeting the definition of an insurance contract under  
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
IFRS are classified as investment or service contracts, as appropriate. The Company has reviewed all the contracts 
issued to its policyholders and concluded that they all meet the definition of insurance contracts. 
 
Recognition of premium income 
Premiums written are accounted for in the period in which the contract is entered into, net of refunds and rebates. 
Premiums are earned as revenue over the period of the contract and are calculated on a time apportionment basis. 
Those proportions of premiums written in a year which relate to periods of risk extending beyond the end of the 
year are carried forward as unearned premiums.  
 
Premiums written exclude insurance premium taxes. Duties levied on premiums and directly related expenses, e.g. 
commissions, are recognised as an expense. Outward reinsurance premiums are accounted for in the same 
accounting period as the premiums for the related business. 
 
Net investment income 
Net investment income consists of dividends and interest receivable for the year and realised gains and losses on 
financial instruments. Dividends on equity securities are recorded as revenue on the ex-dividend date. Interest is 
recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. 
 
Claims incurred 
Claims incurred include all losses occurring during the year, whether reported or not, related handling costs, where 
applicable, a reduction for the value of salvage and other recoveries and any adjustments to claims outstanding 
from previous years. Claims handling costs include all internal and external costs incurred in connection with the 
negotiation and settlement of claims. 
 
Insurance contract liabilities 
The provision for unearned premiums represents the portion of the premiums written relating to periods of insurance 
coverage subsequent to the end of the reporting period calculated on a time apportionment basis. The change in 
unearned premiums is taken to the income statement in order that revenue is recognised over the period of risk. 
 
Acquisition costs comprise the direct and indirect costs of obtaining and processing new and existing insurance 
business. Costs which relate to subsequent financial periods are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable 
out of future revenue margins. These costs are recognised as deferred acquisition costs. Deferred acquisition costs 
are amortised on the same basis as the related premiums are earned. The amortisation is taken to the income 
statement. 
 
The costs of claims notified to the Company at the balance sheet date are estimated on a case by case basis to 
reflect the individual circumstances of each claim. The ultimate expected cost of claims is projected from this data 
by reference to statistics which show how estimates of claims incurred in previous periods have developed over 
time to reflect changes in the underlying estimates of the cost of notified claims and late notifications. 
 
Reinsurance 
The amounts that will be recoverable from reinsurers are estimated based upon the gross provisions, having due 
regard to collectability. Reinsurance recoveries in respect of estimated claims incurred but not reported are 
assumed to be consistent with the historical pattern of such recoveries, adjusted to reflect changes in the nature 
and extent of the Company’s reinsurance programme over time. The recoverability of reinsurance recoveries is 
impaired if there is an event that occurs after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset that will impact the amount 
to be received from the reinsurer. The reinsurers’ share of claims incurred, in the income statement, reflects the 
amounts received or receivable from reinsurers in respect of those claims incurred during the period.  
 
Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognised in the income 
statement as ‘Outward reinsurance premiums’ and paid when due. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment comprise leasehold properties, fixtures, fittings and equipment (including computer 
hardware). All classes are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if 
any. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated to the item will flow to the 
Company and the cost can be measured reliably. 
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Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted 
for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on the basis set out below, 
over the estimated useful lives, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset. 
 
Fixtures and fittings   3 to 10 years straight-line  
Computer hardware and software  3 to 5 years straight-line 
Leasehold property and improvements Written off over the life of the lease, to a maximum of 10 years 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 
appropriate. 
 
The Right-of-use asset included within PPE, is accounted for under IFRS 16. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, cash at bank, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. 
 
Short-term bank deposits 
Short-term bank deposits consist of interest-bearing securities that mature within one year of their acquisition and 
these are measured at fair value. 
 
Financial instruments 
IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement requires the classification of certain financial assets 
and liabilities into separate categories for which the accounting requirements differ. 
 
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and liabilities, and is determined at 
the time of initial recognition. The Company classifies financial assets and liabilities into the following categories: 
 
- Investments in debt securities are classified as available-for-sale (AFS)  
- All other financial assets are classified as loans and receivables 
- Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.  
 

Initial recognition 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date.  All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are recognised on the date that the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. 
 
All financial assets and liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.  
 
Available-for-sale debt securities 
Subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial debt securities are measured at fair value. When the 
fair values of available for sale debt securities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be measured 
based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques with inputs taken 
from observable markets. Interest income is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest 
method. Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from changes in the amortised cost of available-for-sale debt 
securities are also recognised in the income statement.  
 
Other fair value changes, including other foreign exchange gains or losses, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the fair value reserve. If an available-for-sale investment is sold or impaired, the 
cumulative gain or loss accumulated in the fair value reserve is reclassified to the income statement. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loan and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, 
bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment 
losses, if any. 
 
Interest income is recognised in the income statement, by applying the effective interest method, except for short-
term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
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Financial liabilities 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Impairment 
At each reporting date the Company assesses whether financial assets are impaired. A financial asset is impaired 
when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and 
that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset that can be estimated reliably. An impairment 
loss, measured as the difference between the security’s fair value and amortised cost, is recognised when the 
issuer is known to be either in default or in financial difficulty. Determining when an issuer is in financial difficulty 
requires the use of judgement, and consideration of a number of factors including industry risk factors, financial 
condition, liquidity position and near-term prospects of the issuer, credit rating declines and a breach of contract. 
A decline in fair value below amortised cost due to changes in risk-free interest rates does not necessarily represent 
objective evidence of a loss event. 
 
For securities identified as impaired, impairment losses are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in 
the fair value reserve to the income statement. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive 
income to the income statement is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and 
amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously in the income statement. 
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the 
increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment 
loss is reversed through the income statement. 
 
Impairment losses on loans and receivables are calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. If, in a 
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through the income statement. 
 
Impairment of insurance receivables 
Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. 
Receivables are assessed collectively to determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment has 
been incurred but not yet been identified. For these receivables the estimated impairment losses are recognised 
in a separate allowance for doubtful debts. The Company considers that there is evidence of impairment if any of 
the following indicators are present: 

• significant financial difficulties of the debtor; or 
• probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation; or 
• default or delinquency in payments. 

 
Receivables for which an impairment allowance was recognised are written off against the allowance when there 
is no expectation of recovering additional cash. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement within operating and administrative expenses. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating and administrative 
expenses. 
 
Derecognition 
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which either substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the financial asset are transferred, or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset. Control is not retained if the 
transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally. 
 
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 
 
Offset of financial assets and financial liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the Company’s statement of financial position, 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or Cash Generating Unit’s (CGU) fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless 
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount 
of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
Such reversal is recognised in the income statement. 
 
Leases  
The Company has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative 
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The details of accounting 
policies under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately if they are different from those under IFRS 16 and the 
impact of changes is disclosed in changes in accounting policies. 
 
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, 
the Company assesses whether:  
 

- the contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should 
be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the 
supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified; 

- the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 
throughout the period of use; and 

- the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company has this right when it has the 
decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. 

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, 
for the leases of Vehicles in which it is a lessee, the Company has elected not to separate non-lease components 
and account for the lease and non-lease’s, as a single lease component. 
 
For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Company determined whether the arrangement was or 
contained a lease based on the assessment of whether: 
 

- fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and 

- the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset.  

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-
use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate 
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-
line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 
end of the lease term.  
 
The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and 
equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for 
certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement 
of the lease liability comprise the following: 
 

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 
at the commencement date; 

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 
payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 

- option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to 
terminate early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there 
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the estimate 
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment 
of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in 
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 'property, plant 
and equipment' in the statement of financial position. 
 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of buildings 
and vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises 
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Under IAS 17 
In the comparative period, as a lessee the Company classified leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership as finance leases. When this was the case, the leased assets were measured initially at an 
amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Minimum lease 
payments were the payments over the lease term that the lessee was required to make, excluding any contingent 
rent. Subsequently, the assets were accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that 
asset. As a results of applying requirements of IAS 17 all of the Company’s leases were classified as operating 
leases and were not recognised in the statement of financial position. Payments made under operating leases were 
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received were 
recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 
 
Assets and liabilities held for sale  
Assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale if it is considered highly probable that the carrying amount of 
the assets and directly associated liabilities will be recovered principally through a sale, rather than through 
continuing operations. Assets and liabilities held for sale are each presented as a single line in the statement of 
financial position, at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where the asset or liability 
comprises a separate business operation (e.g. a subsidiary, an associate or a branch), the assets (including any 
goodwill allocated to the business) and the directly associated liabilities of the business are considered together as 
one disposal group. In the period when assets are recognised as held for sale on the face of the statement of 
financial position for the first time, the comparative prior period is not re-presented.  
 
Dividends 
Dividends received from investments in equities are recorded on the date on which the shares are quoted ex-
dividend.  
 
Dividends received from the Company’s subsidiary undertakings are booked on the date the dividend is received. 
Interim dividends payable are recognised when paid and final dividends booked as a liability when they are 
approved by the members of the Company passing a written resolution.  
 
All dividends paid are ultimatley recognised directly in equity. 
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Provisions and contingent liabilities 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events and it is probable that an outflow of resources, embodying economic benefits, will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the Company expects a 
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement 
is more probable than not. If the effect is material, the provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects a current market assessment for the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
The Company recognises a provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be derived from a 
contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract. 
 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if there is a possible future obligation as a result of a past event, or if there is a 
present obligation but either an outflow of resources is not probable or the amount cannot be reliably estimated. 
 
Employee benefits 
The Company operates defined contribution plans which receive fixed contributions from the Company. The 
Company’s legal or constructive obligation for these plans is limited to the contributions. The contributions are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset 
to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.  
 
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Company is committed demonstrably, without 
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal 
retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Company has made an offer 
of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be 
estimated reliably.  
 
If employee benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting period, then they are discounted to their 
present value. 
 
Taxation 
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in the 
statement of other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable result for the period and any adjustment to the tax payable 
in respect of previous periods. 
 
Deferred tax is provided in full on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes and these differences will be eliminated at a 
later date with a corresponding effect on taxable income. Deferred tax is measured using tax rates expected to 
apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled based on tax rates and 
laws which have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends 
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
Foreign currency  
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Company at their respective functional currency spot 
rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated to the Company’s functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at the 
reporting date exchange rates of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
income statement. 
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2 Accounting judgements and estimates in applying accounting policies  
The Company makes judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities. Estimates are regularly reviewed and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Judgements relate to 
decisions about the application of accounting policy. 
 
Significant accounting judgements – insurance risk 
Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk. Such contracts may also transfer 
financial risk. The Company considers that all of the contracts it underwrites carry insurance, rather than financial 
risk. 
 
Significant accounting estimates – the ultimate liability arising from claims outstanding 
The estimation of claims incurred but not reported is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the 
estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified to the Company, where more information about the claim 
is generally available. However, engineering and property damage business is ‘short tail’, in that there generally is 
not a significant delay between the occurrence of the claim and the claim being reported to the Company. Claims  
are therefore typically reported relatively quickly after the claim event and so the balance displays low levels of 
volatility. 
 
Allowance is made, however, for changes in uncertainties which may create distortions in the underlying statistics 
or which might cause the cost of unsettled claims to increase when compared with the cost of previously settled 
claims including: 
 

• Changes in the legal environment; 
• The effects of inflation; 
• Changes in the business mix; 
• The impact of large losses;  
• Movements in industry benchmarks; and 
• Changes in the processes which might accelerate or slowdown the development and / or recording of 

paid or incurred claims compared with the statistics of previous periods.  
 
The two most critical assumptions as regards to claims provisions are that the past is a reasonable predictor of the 
likely level of future claims development and that the rating and other models used for current business are a fair 
reflection of the likely level of ultimate claims to be incurred.  
 
The Directors consider that the provision for gross claims and related reinsurance recoveries are fairly stated on 
the basis of the information currently available to them. However, the ultimate liability will vary as a result of 
subsequent information and events and this may result in significant adjustments to the amounts provided.  
 
Adjustments to the amounts of claims provisions established in prior years are reflected in the financial statements 
in the period in which the adjustments are made. The methods used and the estimates made are regularly reviewed 
to reflect recent and emerging trends in experience and changes in the risk profile of the business.  
 
3 Insurance risk 
 
As an insurance business, the Company is exposed to a number of risks, as summarised in the Risk Management 
section of the Strategic Report. The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event 
occurs and the uncertainty of the amount and timing of the resulting claim. Factors such as the business and 
product mix, the external environment including market competition and reinsurance capacity all may vary from 
year to year, along with the actual frequency, severity and ultimate cost of claims and benefits. This subjects the 
Company to underwriting and pricing risk (the risk of failing to ensure disciplined risk selection and failing to achieve 
the required premium), claims reserving risk (the risk of actual claims payments exceeding the amount held as a 
liability) and reinsurance risk (the risk of failing to access and manage reinsurance capacity at a reasonable price). 
 
a) Underwriting and reinsurance risk 
 
The Company manages underwriting and reinsurance risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance 
arrangements and proactive claims handling. The underwriting strategy aims to ensure that the underwritten risks 
are well diversified in terms of type and amount of risk and geography. 
 
Pricing for the Company’s products is generally based upon historical claims frequencies and claims severity 
averages and adjusted for inflation. While claims remain the Company’s principal cost, the Company also makes 
allowance in the pricing procedures for acquisition expenses, administration expenses, investment income, the 
cost of reinsurance and for a profit loading that adequately covers the cost of capital. 
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3 Insurance risk (continued) 
 
Underwriting limits and a range of delegated authorities are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria. 
The Company generally has the right not to renew individual policies, it can impose deductibles and it has the right 
to reject the payment of a fraudulent claim. 
 
All of the Company’s underwriters have specific licences that set clear parameters for the business they can 
underwrite, based on the experience of the individual underwriter. Additionally, the Company has a centrally 
managed forum looking at underwriting trends, reviewing and agreeing underwriting direction and setting policy 
and directives where appropriate. The Company has a portfolio management process which provides a consistent 
assessment of each portfolio performance against targets. Under the portfolio management system, targets are 
tracked to monitor emerging trends, opportunities and risks and, on an annual basis, a review forum of business 
and underwriting leaders undertake a detailed review of each portfolio utilising this data.  
 
The Company has developed methods of recording exposures and concentrations of risk. This means there is 
greater control of exposures in high risk areas and enables a prompt response to claims from policyholders should 
there be a catastrophic event such as an earthquake. 
 
Reinsurance arrangements in place include excess of loss, catastrophe and proportional coverage. The effect of 
such reinsurance arrangements is that the Company should not suffer total net insurance losses beyond the 
Company’s risk appetite in any one year. 
 
The table below sets out the concentration of insurance contract liabilities by class of business: 
 

 31 December 2019 
 Gross written 

premiums 
Gross claims 

outstanding 
Net claims 

outstanding 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 
    
Direct insurance 45,338 49,114 23,965 
Reinsurance acceptances 10,909 4,861 4,308 
 56,247 53,975 28,273 

 
 31 December 2018 
 Gross written 

premiums 
Gross claims 

outstanding 
Net claims 

outstanding 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 
    
Direct insurance 37,658 54,613 26,295 
Reinsurance acceptances 11,871 5,116 4,501 
 49,529 59,729 30,796 

 
The liabilities established could be lower or higher than the ultimate cost of settling the claims arising as a result of 
differences arising from developments in case reserving for large losses and catastrophes, or from changes in 
estimates of claims incurred but not reported (IBNR). The level of uncertainty varies depending on the nature of 
the risks being underwritten. 
 
A 5% increase or decrease in the gross incurred and net incurred claims ratio would have the following effect on 
income statement and equity: 
 

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018 
 5% increase 

£’000 
5% decrease 

£’000 
 5% increase 

£’000 
5% decrease 

£’000 
Impact on profit after tax and equity  
      
Gross of reinsurance (2,028) 2,028  (1,999) 1,999 
Net of reinsurance (1,929) 1,929  (1,881) 1,881 
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3 Insurance risk (continued) 
 
b) Claims reserving risk 
 
The Company establishes loss reserves to account for the anticipated ultimate costs of all losses and related loss 
adjustment expenses (LAE) on losses that have already occurred. The Company establishes reserves for reported 
losses and LAE, as well as for IBNR losses and unallocated loss adjustment expenses (ULAE). Loss reserve 
estimates are based on known facts and on interpretation of circumstances including experience with similar cases 
and historical claims payment trends. The Company also considers the development of loss payment trends, levels 
of unpaid claims, judicial decisions and economic conditions. 
 
 
4 Financial risk and capital management 
 
The Company is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets, financial liabilities, reinsurance assets and 
insurance liabilities. In particular, the key financial risk is that the proceeds from its financial assets are not sufficient 
to fund the obligations arising from its insurance contracts. The most important components of financial risk are 
market risk (interest rate risk and currency risk) and credit risk. 
 
There has been no change from the prior period in the nature of the financial risks to which the Company is 
exposed. The Company’s management and measurement of financial risks is informed by stress testing 
techniques. 
 
a) Categories of financial instruments 

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018 
 Carrying value 

£’000 
Fair value 

£’000 
 Carrying value 

£’000 
Fair value 

£’000 
Financial assets      
Available-for-sale      
   Short-term bank deposits 1,486 1,486  2,345 2,345 
   Fixed-income securities  102,040 102,040  99,507 99,507 
 103,526 103,526  101,852 101,852 
      
At amortised cost      
   Loan and receivables      
      Insurance debtors - intermediaries 7,500 7,500  5,903 5,903 
      Insurance debtors - out of reinsurance 
        operations 

1,778 1,778   
1,861 

 
1,861 

      Other debtors 1,951 1,951  768 768 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,653 6,653  6,618 6,618 
 17,882 17,882  15,150 15,150 
      
Financial liabilities – amortised cost      
Creditors arising out of insurance operations 1,364 1,364  554 554 
Other liabilities 20,550 20,550  19,090 19,090 
 21,914 21,914  19,644 19,644 

 
For short-term bank deposits, loans and receivables items and financial liabilities items, the carrying amounts 
approximate to fair value owing to the short-term maturity of these financial instruments. There are no restrictions 
on cash currently in effect. 
 
Except for insurance debtors, all financial assets of the Company meet the definition of a group of financial assets 
with contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding (SPPI) as defined under IFRS 9. The amount of the change in fair value of available for sale  
financial assets during the year is disclosed in the statement of other comprehensive income. Carrying values of 
financial assets by risk grades that meet the SPPI criteria of IFRS 9 are disclosed in credit risk disclosures. The 
short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents had effective interest rates of 0% to 1.8% (2018: 0% to 
0.5%). 
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4 Financial risk and capital management (continued) 
 
b) Fair value hierarchy 
 
The Company measures fair value using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements. The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is 
categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. Inputs used in making a fair value measurement are classified as follows:  
 

Level 1: fair values measured using quoted bid prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. This category includes listed debt securities in active markets. 
 
Level 2: fair values measured using observable market information as inputs for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes listed debt in a market that 
is not active and debt securities traded over the counter. 
 
Level 3: fair values measured using internal models without observable market information as inputs. 
 

There were no changes in the valuation techniques during the year compared to those described in the prior year 
financial statements. 
 
For available-for-sale financial assets, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels 
of the fair value hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of the reporting period.  

 
 

31 December 
2019 

 31 December 
2018 

 £’000  £’000 
Available-for-sale securities:    
Level 1 8,869  10,426 
Level 2 93,171  91,426 
 102,040  101,852 

 
The fixed-income securities portfolio consists of a range of mainly fixed interest instruments including government 
securities, local authority issues, corporate loans and bonds, overseas bonds and other interest-bearing securities.   
 
The fair values of bonds, debentures and asset-backed securities are summarised as follows: 
 

 31 December 
2019 

 31 December 
2018 

 £’000  £’000 
    
Government 42,587  45,369 
Corporate and others 59,453  54,138 
 102,040  99,507 

 
c) Interest rate risk 
 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from movements on financial investments that are 
measured at fair value and have fixed interest rates, which represent a significant proportion of assets. The 
Company’s investment strategy is set in order to control the impact of interest rate risk on anticipated cash flows 
and asset values.  

  Increase / (decrease) in other 
comprehensive income 

Variable Change in variable 2019  
£’000 

2018 
£’000 

    
Interest rate risk  -100 basis points 1,770 5,647 
 +100 basis points (4,704) (4,639) 

 
The value of fixed income investments will vary inversely with changes in interest rates. 
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4 Financial risk and capital management (continued) 
 
The table above assumes all territories experience the same interest rate movement while holding all other 
variables constant. There have been no changes from the prior year to the method and assumptions used in 
preparing the above mentioned sensitivity analysis. 
 
Financial investments with variable interest rates, including cash and cash equivalents, are subject to cash flow 
interest rate risk. This risk is not significant to the Company. 
 
d) Credit risk 
 
The Company has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk of non-payment of their obligations by counterparties. 
Areas where the Company is exposed to credit risk are: 

- reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities (excluding the provision for unearned premiums) and amounts 
due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid; 

- deposits held with banks; 
- amounts due from insurance intermediaries and policyholders; and 
- counterparty default on debt securities. 

 
The following table summarises the Company’s exposures to credit risk: 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

    
Cash and cash equivalents 6,653  6,618 
Short-term bank deposits 1,486  2,345 
Fixed-income securities 102,040  99,507 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 25,592  28,933 
Insurance debtors - intermediaries 7,500  5,903 
Insurance debtors - out of reinsurance operations 1,778  1,861 
Other debtors 1,951  768 
Aggregate exposure to credit risk  147,000  145,935 

 
Details of Company’s insurance debtors and other debtors which are overdue but not impaired are provided in note 
18. 
 
The following table provides information on the gross carrying value of insurance, reinsurance and other debtors: 

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018 
 Insurance and 

reinsurance 
debtors 

Other 
debtors 

 Insurance and 
reinsurance 

debtors 

Other 
debtors 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
      
Neither past due nor impaired 6,554 1,951  5,869 768 
Past due but not impaired 3,303 -  2,531 - 
Individually impaired - -  - - 
 9,857 1,951  8,400 768 

 
The Company has insurance receivables that are past the due date but not impaired. The Company believes that 
individual impairment of these assets is not appropriate as the amounts due will be collected through normal credit 
control procedures. 
 
The Company incurs credit risk when transferring insurance risk to an external reinsurer. Good credit standing is 
an essential factor in the selection of reinsurers, as it limits the default and cash-flow risks. The Company purchases 
reinsurance from external parties as well as from reinsurers within the Munich Re Group. All reinsurers that 
participate in risk transfers from the Company have been approved as acceptable counterparties by the HSB Senior 
Management and Munich Re Group Security Committee. The Company’s largest reinsurance counterparty is The 
Hartford Steam Boiler Inspection and Insurance Company, a related party with an A.M. Best credit rating of A++, 
and as at 31 December 2019 its share of insurance contract liabilities was £2,891,000 (2018: £4,747,000). 
 
The Company’s cash balances are regularly reviewed to identify the quality of the counterparty bank and to monitor 
and limit concentrations of risk. The level and age of debtor balances are regularly assessed via monthly credit 
management reports. These reports are scrutinised to assess exposure in respect of aged or outstanding balances.  
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4 Financial risk and capital management (continued) 
 
The Company has no material concentration of credit risk in respect of amounts due from insurance intermediaries 
and policyholders due to the well-diversified spread of such debtors. The Company’s fixed interest instruments 
consist of corporate bonds with high credit ratings and exposures are regularly monitored. 
 
The following table presents the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired. This is 
assessed by reference to the credit rating as provided by Standard & Poor’s or equivalent. 
 

 31 December 2019 
 AAA AA A BBB Not 

rated Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
       
Cash and cash equivalents - 4,773 1,880 - - 6,653 
Short-term bank deposits - - 1,486 - - 1,486 
Fixed-income securities 10,110 37,535 11,854 42,542 - 102,041 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 12,769 9,776 3,156 - - 25,701 
Insurance debtors - intermediaries - - - - 4,983 4,983 
Insurance debtors - out of reinsurance operations - - - - 1,571 1,571 
Other debtors - - - - 1,951 1,951 
Total exposure 22,879 52,084 18,376 42,542 8,505 144,386 

 
 

 31 December 2018 
 AAA AA A BBB Not 

rated Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
       
Cash and cash equivalents - 4,216 2,402 - - 6,618 
Short-term bank deposits - - 2,345 - - 2,345 
Fixed-income securities 10,426 36,410 11,921 40,750 - 99,507 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 13,542 10,368 5,023 - - 28,933 
Insurance debtors - intermediaries - - - - 4,462 4,462 
Insurance debtors - out of reinsurance operations - - - - 1,407 1,407 
Other debtors - - - - 768 768 
Total exposure 23,968 50,994 21,691 40,750 6,637 144,040 

 
 
e) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of not being unable to meet the Company’s financial obligations as they fall due 
as a result of insufficient access to liquid funds. The Company could be exposed to liquidity risk if there are 
insufficient financial resources readily available to pay claims and other business expenses when they fall due. 
Exposure to liquidity risk is determined based on the carrying values of liabilities reflected in the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 
The following table presents the maturity profile of the liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. 
Current liabilities are all expected to be settled within 12 months after the year-end date: 
 
Current liabilities 

 
 

31 December 
2019 

 31 December 
2018 

 £’000  £’000 
    
Insurance contract liabilities 84,197  84,802 
Creditors arising out of insurance operations 1,364  554 
Liabilities classified as held for sale 
Other liabilities 

1,113 
20,550 

 - 
19,090 

Total current liabilities 107,224  104,446 
 
The Company maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse financial assets that can be easily liquidated 
in the event of an unforeseen interruption of cash flow. 
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4 Financial risk and capital management (continued) 
 
The Company assessed the concentration of risk with respect to its liabilities and concluded it to be low.  
 
f) Currency risk 
 
The Company operates internationally and as a result, foreign exchange risk arises from recognised assets and 
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency. The Company’s major exposure to foreign 
currency risk within its investment portfolio arises from purchased investments that are denominated in currencies 
other than GBP. The Company also holds cash balances in foreign currency.  
 
The largest currency exposures with reference to net assets / liabilities are shown below, representing effective 
diversification of resources. 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Great British Pound 88,489  86,471 
Australian Dollar 9,569  9,807 
Euro  (73)  1,410 
US Dollar  1,213  1,888 
Other (664)  (585) 
Total 98,534  98,991 

 
The Company is also exposed to currency risk on both Canadian Dollar and US Dollar due to the investment in its 
Canadian subsidiary. This is held on the balance sheet at historic deemed cost of £46,752,000, however, this is 
not representative of the current underlying net asset value. 
 
The sensitivity of profit or loss and equity to movements in currency risk is shown in the following table: 
 

  Increase / (decrease) in 
profit or loss 

Increase / (decrease) in  
Other comprehensive income 

Variable Change in variable 2019  
£’000 

2018  
£’000 

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000 

      
Currency risk  -5% (502) (626) (502) (626) 
 +5% 502 626 502 626 

 
The following assumptions have been made in preparing the above sensitivity analysis: 

- currency gains and losses arise from a change in the value of GBP against all other currencies moving in 
parallel; and 

- all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant ignoring any impact of forecasts. 
 
There have been no changes from the prior year to the method and assumptions used in preparing the above 
mentioned sensitivity analysis. 
 
g) Capital management 
 
The Company’s primary objectives when managing capital are to: 

- comply with the regulators’ capital requirements of the markets in which the Company operates; and 
- safeguard the Company’s ability to continue to meet stakeholders’ expectations in accordance with its 

corporate mission, vision and values. 
 
The Company is subject to insurance solvency regulations in all the territories in which it issues insurance contracts, 
and capital is managed and evaluated on the basis of regulatory capital. 
 
The Company is required to comply with rules issued by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the Prudential 
Regulation Authority (PRA), and to submit returns to the PRA detailing the levels of regulatory capital held. The 
Company continued to report under Solvency II rules during 2019. The Company sets internal capital standards 
above the PRA’s minimum requirement. Further details are given in the Company’s publicly available Solvency 
and Financial Condition Report. 
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4 Financial risk and capital management (continued) 
 
Regulated subsidiaries are restricted in the amount of cash dividends they transfer to the parent entity in order for 
them to meet their individual minimum capital requirements. Share capital and related information is disclosed in 
note 19. The company has met all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the year (2018: met) 
 
 
5 Net insurance premium revenue 
 
 Gross premiums written  Gross premiums earned 
 31 December 

2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

Direct insurance  45,338 37,658  39,274 38,641 
Reinsurance acceptances  10,909 11,871  10,787 10,715 
 56,247 49,529  50,061 49,356 
Outward reinsurance premiums (2,523) (2,838)  (2,441) (2,913) 
Net premiums 53,724 46,691  47,620 46,443 

 
 
6 Investment income 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Interest income 3,157  3,668 
Amortisation of investment premiums and discounts (1,146)  (1,413) 
Investment expenses (183)  (206) 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments 505  (55) 
Foreign exchange (523)  (694) 
Investment income 1,810  1,300 

 
 
7 Claims and change in insurance liabilities and reinsurance recoveries 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Gross claims paid 24,591  24,930 
Gross changes in provisions for claims (5,425)  16,051 
Reinsurance recoveries on claims paid (1,287)  (3,906) 
Reinsurers’ share of change in provisions for claims 3,158  (16,013) 
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance 21,037  21,062 

 
 
8 Fees, commissions and other acquisition costs 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Fees paid 1  4 
Commissions paid 15,451  14,251 
Change in deferred acquisition costs (1,346)  (239) 
Fees, commissions and other acquisition costs 14,106  14,016 
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9 Profit for the year 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging / (crediting)    
Net foreign exchange differences 107  694 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 17) 1,323  216 
Operating lease rentals -  1,161 

 
 
10 Auditor’s remuneration 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s 
annual accounts 

 
123 

  
121 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other  
audit-related assurance services 

 
29 

  
27 

Total auditor’s remuneration 152  148 
 
Amounts disclosed are net of service taxes, where applicable. Other audit-related assurance services relates to 
work performed for Australian regulatory requirements. 
 
 
11 Employee information 
 
Staff costs for all employees comprise: 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Wages and salaries 7,487  7,441 
Social security costs 799  983 
Pension costs 907  863 
 9,193  9,287 

 
The average number of employees during the year was as follows: 

Technical 36  38 
Administrative and management 185  184 
 221  222 

 
12 Directors’ emoluments 
 
The aggregate amount of Directors’ emoluments was £1,062,000 for the year to 31 December 2019 (2018: 
£984,000).  Emoluments were as follows:  

 31 December 2019  31 December 
2018 

 Fees and 
salaries 

 
Bonus 

Other 
benefits 

 
Total   

Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

 
Highest paid director 200 199 28 427  378 
All directors 626 351 86 1,063  984 

 
Other benefits include pension contributions. 
 
Retirement benefits accrued to three Directors under defined contribution pension schemes (2018: three) and no 
Director under a defined benefit scheme (2018: none). The remuneration of certain Directors is paid by the 
Company’s intermediate parent undertaking, HSB Group Inc. The Company was recharged £Nil (2018: £Nil) in 
respect of their services to the Company. 
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13 Tax expense 
 
The tax amounts charged in the income statement are as follows: 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

Current tax    
 - Current year 185  (75) 
 - Prior years (27)  14 
 - Foreign tax - current tax on income for the period 440  296 
    
Deferred tax    
 - Temporary differences (216)  (237) 
 - Opening adjustment (1)  - 
Total tax expense / (credit) 381  (2) 

 
The tax amounts charged/(credited) in other comprehensive income are as follows: 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

Current tax    
 - Current year 16  24 
    
Deferred tax    
 - Temporary differences 299  (353) 
Total tax expense / (credit) 315  (329) 

 
Tax on the result before tax differs from the United Kingdom effective rate of corporation tax for the year ended 31 
December 2019 of 19% (2018: 19%). The differences are explained below: 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

    
Profit/(loss) before tax (excluding dividend income) 29  (1,998) 
Tax calculated at the UK effective rate of tax of 19% (2018: 19%) (6)  (380) 
    
Factors affecting charge for the year:    
Expenses / (income) not deductible for tax purposes (26)  68 
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods (27)  14 
Change in tax rates -  - 
Withholding tax suffered on dividend received 440  296 
Total tax expense / (credit) 381  (2) 

 
A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 20% to 19% (effective from 1 April 2017) was substantively enacted 
on 26 October 2015. A further reduction to 18% (effective 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted on 26 October 
2015 and an additional reduction to 17% (effective 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted on 6 September 2016.  
This will reduce the Company's future current tax charge accordingly. 
 
 
14 Dividends 
 
Dividends of £9,814,000 were declared and paid in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 
£22,016,000) 
 
The Company’s subsidiaries may be subject to restrictions on the amount of dividends they can pay to shareholders 
as a result of local regulatory requirements. However, based on the information currently available, the Company 
does not believe that such restrictions materially impact the ability to meet obligations or pay dividends. 
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15 Deferred acquisition costs 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

    
At 1 January 4,303  4,062 
Increase in the period 15,452  14,252 
Release in the period (14,105)  (14,013) 
Exchange differences (51)  2 
At 31 December 5,599  4,303 

 
  
16 Retirement benefit schemes 
 
Defined benefit pension scheme 
 
The Company’s subsidiary, HSB Engineering Insurance Services Limited (HSBEISL), operates a funded defined 
benefit scheme in the UK administered by a single pension fund. The Company’s employees were eligible to 
participate in that benefit scheme. 
 
The scheme was closed to new members with effect from 31 December 2003 and future accrual of benefits ceased 
for all members on 30 June 2016. However, participating employees who were active members at 30 June 2016 
retain a final salary link, so their pension benefits increase in line with increases in their pensionable salary while 
they remain in employment with the Company. 
 
Up to 30 June 2016, contributions were paid to the scheme by the members at the rate of 7.00% of pensionable 
salaries and by the Company at the rate of 12.25% of pensionable salaries plus insurance premiums and 
administrative expenses. Contributions ceased on closure of the scheme to accrual of benefits. 
 
The net defined benefit asset and related disclosures under IAS 19 have been recognised and disclosed in the 
financial statements of HSBEISL. During the year net defined benefit cost of £nil (2018: £25,000) was charged to 
the Company by its subsidiary, HSBEISL. 
 
Defined contribution pension scheme 
 
The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for employees and the contributions paid or 
accruing to the money purchase scheme during the year were £907,000 (2018: £863,000). The Company has no 
significant exposure to any other post-retirement benefit obligations. The contributions outstanding to the money 
purchase scheme as at 31 December 2019 were £1,000 (2018: £93,000). 
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17 Property, plant and equipment  
 
Property, plant and equipment comprise owned and leased assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property. 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

31 December 
2018 
£’000 

    
Property, plant and equipment owned 2,507  2,420 
Right-of-use assets 7,795  - 
Total 10,302  2,420 

 
 

 
Leasehold 

property 

Fixtures, 
fittings and 
equipment 

                       
Right-of-

use assets 
£’000 

Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost     
At 1 January 2019 1,437 983 7,712 10,132 
Additions 59 28 83 170 
Disposals - - - - 
At 31 December 2019 1,496 1,011 7,795 10,302 
 
Accumulated depreciation 

    

At 1 January 2019 1,140 748 - 1,888 
Charge for the year 81 80 1,162 1,323 
Disposals - -  - 
At 31 December 2019 1,221 828 1,162 3,211 
     
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 275 183 6,633 7,091 
     
Cost     
At 1 January 2018 1,437 983 - 2,420 
Additions - - - - 
Disposals - - - - 
At 31 December 2018 1,437 983 - 2,420 
 
Accumulated depreciation 

    

At 1 January 2018 1,019 653 - 1,672 
Charge for the year 121 95 - 216 
Disposals - - - - 
At 31 December 2018 1,140 748 - 1,888 
     
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 297 235 - 532 

 
Depreciation expense has been charged in other operating and administrative expenses. 
 
The Company leases parts of buildings and vehicles. Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee 
is presented below.  
 

Right-of-use assets  Property 
£’000 

Vehicles 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

At 1 January  7,536 259 7,795 
Depreciation charge for the year   (1,060) (102) (1,162) 
At 31 December  6,476 157 6,633 

 
On adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, the value of the Right-of-use assets was £7,795,000 (2018: nil) 
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18 Other assets 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 25,592  28,933 
Insurance debtors - intermediaries 7,500  5,903 
Insurance debtors - out of reinsurance operations 1,778  1,861 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,903  1,830 
Other debtors 1,951  768 
Total other assets 38,724  39,295 

 
All other assets listed in the table above are current. 
 
The Company has recognised a collective impairment decrease of £60,000 (2018: decrease of £74,000) in other 
operating and administrative expenses in the income statement for the collective impairment of its trade and other 
receivables during the year. 
 
There has been no significant change in the recoverability of insurance receivables, for which no collateral is held. 
The Directors consider that the amounts are recoverable at their carrying values, which are stated net of an 
allowance for doubtful debts for those debtors that are collectively determined to be impaired. 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 
 

578  636 

Included within trade receivables of the Company is £319,000 (2018: £121,000) overdue greater than a year but 
not impaired. There is an allowance for doubtful accounts against balances overdue at the reporting date from 15% 
to 75% depending on the age. All other balances are less than one year old. None of the insurance and other 
debtors have been determined to be individually impaired based on the impairment factors used by the Company. 
 
Concentrations of credit risk with respect to debtors are limited due to the size and spread of the Company’s trading 
base. No further credit risk provision is therefore required in excess of provisions already recognised for doubtful 
debts. Refer to note 4 for credit risk, its management and measures of credit quality of financial assets that are 
neither past due nor impaired. 
 
 
19 Share capital and capital management 

 Ordinary shares of US$1 each  
 31 December 

2019 
 31 December 

2018 
 US$’000  US$’000 
    
Issued, authorised, allotted and fully paid  100,000  100,000 
    
 Number  Number 
    
Issued, authorised, allotted and fully paid 100,000,000  100,000,000 

 
The historic British pounds value of the Company’s share capital is £53,560,000 (2018: £53,560,000). Ordinary 
shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds of winding up the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 
 
 
20 Insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to reduce the loss that may arise from events that cause 
unfavourable underwriting results by reinsuring certain levels of risk with other insurers. The Company manages 
underwriting risk by transferring exposures through the use of both excess of loss and treaty reinsurance 
programmes. During 2019 the Company followed the policy of underwriting and reinsuring contracts of insurance  
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20 Insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets (continued) 
 
that limited the net exposure of the Company to a maximum amount of US$5m per event and $6.25m per risk 
(2018: US$5m per event and $6.25m per risk). 
 
The provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses is an estimate subject to variability and the variation 
could be material in the near term. Variation can be caused by receipt of additional claim information, changes in 
judicial interpretation of contracts, significant changes in severity or frequency from historical trends, the timing of 
claims payments, and the recoverability of reinsurance. The estimate is principally based on Company’s historical 
experience. Methods of estimation have been used which the Company believes produce reasonable results given 
current information. 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

Gross    
Claims outstanding 53,179  59,729 
Unearned premiums 31,018  25,073 
Total gross insurance liabilities 84,197  84,802 
    
Recoverable from reinsurers    
Claims outstanding 25,592  28,933 
Unearned premiums 136  54 
Total reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities 25,728  28,987 
    
Net    
Claims outstanding 27,587  30,796 
Unearned premiums 30,882  25,019 
Total net insurance liabilities 58,469  55,815 

 
Reserving methodology 
The provision for unpaid claims, adjustment expenses and unreported losses is determined using accepted 
actuarial practices. These include the chain-ladder development factor method, Bornhuetter-Ferguson method and 
frequency/severity development method. The provision provides for all costs of investigation and settlement of 
insurance losses that have occurred prior to the year end, as well as an estimate for claims incurred but not 
reported. Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated using the input of assessment for individual cases reported and 
statistical analyses for the claims incurred but not reported. 
 
Uncertainty margins 
The Company believes that its overall case reserving and actuarial practices have been consistently applied over 
many years, and that its provisions have resulted in reasonable approximations of the ultimate cost of claims 
incurred. The Company includes a risk margin based on a percentage of earned premium to allow for uncertainty 
within the calculated reserves. 
 
Assumptions and changes in assumptions 
In performing the valuation of the incurred but not reported liability, the Company makes assumptions as to future 
loss ratios, trends, reinsurance recoveries, expenses and other contingencies, taking into consideration the 
circumstances of the Company and the nature of the insurance policies. The assumptions underlying the valuation 
of provisions for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses are reviewed and updated by the Company on an ongoing 
basis to reflect recent and emerging trends in experience and changes in the risk profile of the business. 
 
  



  

44 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
 
 
20 Insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets (continued) 
 
Claims development tables 
 
The following table shows the estimates of cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and incurred 
but not reported (IBNR) for each successive accident year at each reporting date together with cumulative 
payments to date. 
 

Total basis   2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Gross basis (£’000)           
End of accident year 28,222 22,963 21,788 18,398 18,601 27,479 24,518 36,057 49,622 26,368 
1 year later 21,750 19,309 16,399 18,776 16,488 23,453 19,355 32,711 44,392  
2 years later 21,530 17,361 15,839 14,371 16,550 22,050 18,065 30,596   
3 years later  22,025 16,700 15,054 14,542 15,962 21,401 18,375    
4 years later  21,747 15,680 15,035 14,175 15,920 21,363     
5 years later 20,725 15,439 15,106 14,016 15,391      
6 years later 20,809 15,470 14,561 14,340       
7 years later 20,844 15,341 14,277        
8 years later  20,698 15,351         
9 years later  20,762          
Current estimate of 
   cumulative claims 

 
20,762 

 
15,351 

 
14,277 

 
14,340 

 
15,391 

 
21,363 

 
18,375 

 
30,596 

 
44,392 

 
26,368 

Cumulative 
   payments 

 
20,497 

 
15,171 

 
13,305 

 
13,146 

 
14,501 

 
20,643 

 
16,667 

 
25,687 

 
18,730 

 
10,849 

 
Net basis (£’000)           
End of accident year 22,646 21,320 22,095 17,016 18,709 26,473 24,600 34,673 49,632 26,368 
1 year later 17,495 17,127 15,140 16,154 16,128 22,277 18,735 28,961 44,400  
2 years later 16,537 16,257 13,733 12,181 15,774 20,705 17,189 25,756   
3 years later  16,092 15,489 12,637 12,255 15,750 19,954 17,466    
4 years later  15,675 14,425 12,569 11,925 15,677 19,688     
5 years later 14,522 14,383 12,544 11,758 15,136      
6 years later 14,557 13,972 11,975 12,074       
7 years later 14,583 13,835 11,749        
8 years later  14,424 13,837         
9 years later  14,446          
Current estimate of 
   cumulative claims 

 
14,446 

 
13,837 

 
11,749 

 
12,074 

 
15,136 

 
19,688 

 
17,466 

 
25,756 

 
44,400 

 
26,368 

Cumulative 
   Payments 

 
14,180 

 
13,655 

 
10,774 

 
10,875 

 
14,230 

 
19,951 

 
15,738 

 
20,850 

 
18,737 

 
10,849 

 
 

(£’000) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Total 
Net liabilities- last 
10 accident years 

 
266 

 
182 

 
975 

 
1,199 

 
905 

 
737 

 
1,728 

 
4,906 

 
25,663 

 
15,519 52,080 

Liabilities in respect of 
   prior accident years 

  
         

1,160 
Liability recoverable 
   from reinsurers 

          

(61) 
Gross liabilities in statement of financial position 53,179 

 
Provisions for the Company’s net claims at the beginning of the year compared to payments and provisions at the 
end in respect of prior underwriting years liabilities amounted to an overprovision in 2019 of £7,602,000 (2018: 
£8,492,000 overprovision). 
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20 Insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets (continued) 
 
b) Movements in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets 

 Gross Reinsurance Net 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Claims outstanding    
At 1 January 2019 59,729 (28,933) 30,796 
Cash (paid) / received for claims settled in the year (24,592) 1,287 (23,305) 
Change in liabilities/reinsu 
rance assets    
  - arising from current year claims 26,376 - 26,376 
  - arising from prior year claims (7,438) 1,854 (5,584) 
Exchange differences (100) 90 (10) 
 53,975 (25,702) 28,273 
Reclassification of Australia branch liabilities to held for sale (796) 110 (686) 
At 31 December 2019 53,179 (25,592) 27,587 
    
Provision for unearned premiums    
At 1 January 2019 25,073 (54) 25,019 
Premiums written in period 56,247 (2,523) 53,724 
Premiums earned in the period (50,061) 2,441 (47,620) 
Exchange differences (241) - (241) 
At 31 December 2019 31,018 (136) 30,882 

 
Claims outstanding    
At 1 January 2018 43,780 (13,012) 30,768 
Cash (paid) / received for claims settled in the year (24,930) 3,906 (21,024) 
Change in liabilities/reinsurance assets    
  - arising from current year claims 50,376 (20,833) 29,543 
  - arising from prior year claims (9,395) 914 (8,481) 
Exchange differences (102) 92 (10) 
At 31 December 2018 59,729 (28,933) 30,796 
    
Provision for unearned premiums    
At 1 January 2018 24,878 (131) 24,747 
Premiums written in period 49,529 (2,838) 46,691 
Premiums earned in the period (49,356) 2,913 (46,443) 
Exchange differences 22 2 24 
At 31 December 2018 25,073 (54) 25,019 

 
 
21          Transfer of Australia branch business 
 
In September 2019 the Company signed a Framework and Transfer Deed setting out its intention to transfer to a 
third party transferee the insurance contract liabilities of the Company’s Australian branch with carrying value of 
£676,000. The Company is in the process of obtaining the required Australian court approval for the transaction 
under Part III, Division 3A of the Australia Insurance Act and this is expected to be received during 2020. The 
transfer covers all live and expired insurance liabilities written by the Company’s APRA regulated Australian branch. 
Following the transfer the Company will have no further exposure to insurance risk in Australia. 
 
The proposed transfer is expected to facilitate the future closure of the branch, allowing the Company to repatriate 
capital from Australia and reduce exposure to movements in the Australian Dollar, benefitting the Company’s 
solvency ratio. 
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21          Transfer of Australia branch business (continued) 
 
The proposed transfer has been reflected in the Company’s balance sheet as at 31 December 2019 as follows: 
 

 31 December 
2019 

 £’000 
  
Assets classified as held for sale:  
Reinsurers share of insurance contract liabilities 109 
Remeasurement of disposal groups to fair value less costs to sell (109) 
Assets classified as held for sale - 

 
Liabilities classified as held for sale:  
Insurance contract liabilities 686 
Remeasurement of disposal groups to fair value less costs to sell 427 
Liabilities classified as held for sale 1,113 
  
Net liabilities classified as held for sale 1,113 

 
 
22 Deferred tax 
 
An analysis and reconciliation of the movement of the key components of the net deferred tax liability during the 
current and prior reporting period is as follows: 
 

£’000 
Net 

balance at 
1 January 

Recognised 
in income 
statement 

Recognised 
in OCI 

Net Balance 
at 31 

December 
2019     
Equalisation reserve (756) 252 - (504) 
Property, plant and equipment (75) (6) - (81) 
Provisions 138 (30) - 108 
Unrealised losses on investments (20) - (299) (319) 
Net tax liability (713) 216 (299) (796) 
     
2018     
Equalisation reserve (1,008) 252 - (756) 
Property, plant and equipment (69) (6) - (75) 
Provisions 147 (9) - 138 
Unrealised gains on investments (373) - 353 (20) 
Net tax liability  (1,303) 237 353 (713) 

 
 
23 Lease Liabilities  
 
Maturity analysis of contractually undiscounted lease cash flows due in:  

 31 December 
2019 

 £’000 
  
Less than one year 1,229 
One to five years 4,238 
More than five years 1,759 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December 7,226 

 
Lease liabilities included in statement of financial position at 31 December 6,779 
 
Presented as: 

 

   Current 1,075 
   Non-current 5,704 
Total 6,779 
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23 Lease Liabilities (continued) 
 
Amounts recognised in income statement: 

 31 December 
2019 

 £’000 
  
Interest on lease liabilities (60) 
Expenses relating to short-term leases  - 

 
Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows: 

 31 December 
2019 

 £’000 
  
Total cash outflow for leases 1,139 

 
 
24 Other liabilities 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Creditors arising out of insurance operations 1,364  554 
Amounts owed to group undertaking 12,580  12,166 
Commissions payable 6,195  5,752 
Other creditors 1,775  1,172 
 21,914  19,644 

 
All other liabilities listed in the table above are current. 
 
 
25 Commitments 
 
Capital commitments 
 
At the year end, the Company had £nil capital commitments (2018: £70,000). 
 
 
26 Parent and subsidiary undertakings 
 
Ultimate parent company and controlling party 
The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EIG Co., which is incorporated and operates in The United States 
of America. EIG Co.’s registered office is One State Street, Hartford, United States. The Company’s ultimate parent 
and controlling company is Munchener Ruckversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengellschaft (Munich Re), which is 
incorporated and operates in Germany. Munich Re’s registered office is Koniginstr. 107, Munich, Germany. Copies 
of the consolidated group accounts can be obtained from New London House, 6 London Street, London EC3R 
7LP.  
 
The parent company of the smallest and largest group for which group financial statements are drawn up of which 
the Company is a member is Munich Re. All the Company’s subsidiaries listed below are included within Munich 
Re’s consolidated financial statements. Voting rights are in line with the holdings of ordinary shares.  
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26 Parent and subsidiary undertakings (continued) 
 
The Company’s interest in group undertakings at 31 December 2019 is as follows: 
 

Subsidiary undertakings Principal 
activity 

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation 

Address 
Class of 
shares 
held 

Holding 
of shares 
by Parent 

The Boiler Inspection and 
Insurance Company of 
Canada 

Insurance 
company 

 
Canada 

390 Bay St, Suite 
2000, Toronto, 
Canada 

 
Ordinary 

 
100% 

      

HSB Engineering 
Insurance Services Limited 

Inspection and 
consultancy 
services 

 
United Kingdom 

New London 
House, 6 London 
St, London 

 
Ordinary 

 
100% 

 
 
27 Related party transactions 
 
The following summarises the Company's related party transactions in the year: 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

Transactions with HSBIIC:    
Ceded net premium earned (535)  (1,548) 
Ceded claims and adjustments (514)  169 
Assumed claims and adjustments (16)  (9) 
Miscellaneous expense (2,703)  (1,580) 
Dividends paid 9,814  22,016 
    
Transactions with Munich Re and its affiliates:    
Ceded net premium earned 44  (69) 
Ceded claims and adjustments 11  21 
Assumed premiums earned (154)  (66) 
Commission and fronting expense -  (2) 
Miscellaneous (expense) / revenue (12)  112 
    
Parent company transactions with HSBEISL and BI&I:    
Ceded net premium earned -  (9) 
Commission and fronting expense -  3 
Operating expenses recharged to subsidiaries 4,838  4,256 
Liabilities settled by subsidiaries on behalf of the Company 11,946  11,601 
Dividends received from subsidiaries 8,731  5,897 
    

All transactions were conducted in the normal course of operations on terms and conditions that are similar to those 
transactions with unrelated parties. The transactions are measured at the exchange amount, which is the 
consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
 
Amounts due from / (to) related parties: 
At the end of the year, the amounts that are included in statements of financial position are as follows: 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Amounts due from / (to) Munich Re and affiliates -  51 
Amounts due from / (to) HSBIIC and affiliates    
   -  in relation to net insurance contract liabilities 2,890  4,747 
   -  in relation to other transactions (2,450)  (708) 
Amounts due to HSBEISL and BI&I (10,129)  (11,458) 
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27 Related party transactions (continued) 
 
These balances are settled on the same basis as those with unrelated parties and have arisen from the reinsurance 
transactions and provision of services referred to above. 
 
Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have 
been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 
December 2019, the Company has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related 
parties (2018: £Nil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of 
the related party and the market in which the related party operates. 
 
The Company’s transactions and balances with its defined contribution pension scheme are disclosed in Note 16. 
 
Key management personnel compensation 
 
Key management personnel of the Company include all directors and senior officers. Key management personnel 
compensation comprised the following: 
 

 31 December 
2019 
£’000 

 31 December 
2018 
£’000 

 
Salaries and short-term employee benefits 812  748 
Post-employment benefits 62  61 
Other long-term benefits 97  49 
Directors fees 96  126 
Total key management personnel compensation 1,067  984 

 
 
28 Subsequent events 
 
There were no significant events occurring after the balance sheet date that would have a material impact on the 
Company’s results of operations, financial position and cash flows. 
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